
Mark Saccoccio  
Town Clerk  

  01525 631920 
      info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1HD 

Friday, 23 November 2018 
 
To:  Members of the Grounds & Environmental Committee (Councillors S Jones, 
R Berry, A Brandham, S Cursons, A Dodwell, T Morris, C Perham and B Spurr) 
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information) 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Grounds & Environmental 
Committee to be held on Monday, 3 December 2018 commencing at 7.30 pm in the 
Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, 
Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1HD.  

 
M Saccoccio  
Town Clerk 

AGENDA 
 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 (i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it.  

 
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on the 

agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by 
the Council (see Dispensation Procedure).  

 

3.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 

 To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect of 
any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing Order 
No.s 1(f) and 1(h). 
 

4.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 6) 

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED * 

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITTEE Monday, 3 December 2018 
 

 

 

 

 To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Grounds & 
Environmental Committee meeting held on 10 September 2018. 
 

5.   COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN (Pages 7 - 8) 

 

 To receive and consider the Committee work plan for 2018-2019 (attached). 
 

6.   REPORT FROM JUDGES OF THE 2018 ANGLIA IN BLOOM COMPETITION 

(Pages 9 - 14) 

 

 To receive a report regarding the Anglia in Bloom 2018 campaign (to follow). 
 

7.   REVIEW OF LEIGHTON LINSLADE IN BLOOM FUNDING (Pages 15 - 30) 

 

 To receive a report reviewing Leighton Linslade in Bloom funding (to follow). 
 

8.   ASTRAL PARK (Pages 31 - 34) 

 

 To receive a general update report regarding the Astral Park Sports and 
Community   Centre and to consider any recommendation/s contained therein 
(to follow). 
 

9.   PROJECTS UPDATE  

 

 To receive a verbal update from the Head of Grounds and Environmental 
Services regarding recent achievements and projects. 
 

10.   SIX MONTH BUDGET MONITORING REPORT (Pages 35 - 42) 

 

 To receive and note a six-month budget monitoring report (attached). 
 

11.   2019/2020 DRAFT BUDGET (Pages 43 - 54) 

 

 To receive and consider recommendations to the Policy and Finance 
Committee in respect of the draft Committee budget for the financial year 2019-
2020 (attached) 
 

12.   TOWN COUNCIL'S FIVE YEAR PLAN (Pages 55 - 56) 

 

 Further to the feedback obtained during the recent residents’ survey, to 
consider future objectives for inclusion in the Town Council’s next Five Year 
Plan (attached). 
 

13.   CEMETERIES (Pages 57 - 64) 

 

 To receive an update report regarding the Cemetery Service Project (to follow). 
 



GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITTEE Monday, 3 December 2018 
 

 

 

14.   EXCLUSION TO THE PUBLIC  

 

  
The Committee may consider it appropriate to consider the following 
resolution should they consider that any discussion would be prejudicial 
to the public interests: that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to 
Meetings) Act 1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the 
confidential nature of the business about to be transacted which involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information. The public and press to 
withdraw from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion 
regarding Pages Park Pavilion. 
 

15.   PAGES PARK PAVILION (Pages 65 - 164) 

 
* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                                                                                      Page 44 

 
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 

 
GROUNDS AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

 
MONDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2018 AT 1930 HOURS 

 
Present: Councillors:  R Berry 
  A Dodwell 
  C Perham    
  S Jones – in the Chair 
  S Ward 
  A Brandham 
        
Also in attendance:   I Haynes (Head of Grounds & Environmental  

Services) 
M Saccoccio (Town Clerk) 
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic & Central  
Services) 
M Penton (Senior Centre Coordinator) 
M Jahn (Committee Officer) 
 

                    Members of the public: 0 
Members of the press:  0 

 

124/GE    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors T Morris and B 
Spurr.  
   

125/GE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting. No declarations were made and no dispensations had been 
requested.  
 

126/GE QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
 No members of the public were present. 

 
127/GE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 The Committee received the draft minutes of the Grounds and Environmental 

Services Committee meeting held on 4 June 2018.  
 
 Minute reference 116/GE: it was confirmed that free dog waste bags were 

now available for distribution from Astral Park and the White House. 
  
 RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Grounds and 

Environmental Services Committee held on 4 June 2018 be approved as 
a correct record and were signed accordingly. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  10 September 2018     
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  45 

128/GE COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN  
 
 The Committee received the work plan for the municipal year 2018/2019. 

 
RESOLVED to note the work plan. 
 

129/GE THE USE OF HERBICIDES AND PESTICIDES 
 
The Committee received and considered a report regarding the use of 
herbicides and pesticides across the town’s parks and open spaces. 
 
RESOLVED to – 
 
1.1 note the report 
1.2 endorse until further notice, a self-imposed ban on the use of 

chemicals containing Glyphosate 
1.3 endorse that officers lead on the discussions about a town-wide 

ban of Glyphosate in all of the town’s public spaces under the 
control of Central Bedfordshire Council 

 
130/GE TOWN COUNCIL OWNED POLLINATOR SITES  
 
 The Committee received and considered a report in respect of the way the 

Town Council-owned pollinator friendly sites would be managed in the future, 
following the end of the existing Service Level Agreement in March 2019.  It 
was agreed that the Town Council staff would be able to deliver the work 
needed to continue managing the pollinator sites, although ongoing support 
from volunteers would be welcomed.  Thanks were formally given to all the 
local volunteers for their work to date in supporting the pollinator initiatives. 

 
 RESOLVED to – 
 

1.1 note the report. 
1.2 endorse that the future funding and development of Town Council 

owned pollinator friendly sites be taken in-house. 
1.3 Formally thank all the local volunteers for their work involved in 

supporting South Bedfordshire Friends of the Earth’s – ‘Keep the 
Buzz in Leighton Buzzard’ initiative and to welcome their ongoing 
support in helping deliver the in-house service delivery. 

 
131/GE ASTRAL PARK  
 
 The Committee received an update report in respect of the Astral Park Sports 

and Community Centre, including events, catering, marketing, football and 
school holiday activities. It was noted that income was on target for the year 
to date although expenditure was slightly higher and this was due to the 
renewal of yearly maintenance contracts and service plans. 

 
 The Astral Park website would be reviewed over the coming weeks giving a 

more up to date picture of the centre.  The enquiry form added to the website 
generated about 10-12 enquiries a week and this would be looked at to 
ascertain how many result in bookings. 

 

Page 2



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  10 September 2018     
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  46 

 Work had been carried out on the football pitches prior to the new season to 
fill in cracks resulting from the dry summer and the goals maintained with 
new nets added.   

 
 The quieter time at the centre was between 12.00 and 3.00 pm and during 

October an Older Persons week would be held providing activities with the 
hope of gaining bookings over this time of the day.  The D1 bus route had 
now been extended which would enable people to access the centre to take 
part in activities.   

 
 The amount of vandalism around the site had decreased significantly 

allowing one football goal to be left out during the summer months for young 
people to use without any problems and with a good working co-operation 
being established between both parties. 

 
 RESOLVED to note the report. 

 
132/GE PROJECTS UPDATES  
 
 The Committee received a verbal update on the progress of various projects. 
 
 Linslade Recreation Ground – local companies have been approached about 

the installation of the railings on the station approach and although the 
Heritage Lottery Fund application for the Henry Finch Fountain had not 
progressed, other avenues would be explored. 

 
 A question was raised regarding funding for the restoration of the Henry Finch 

Fountain and it was agreed that securing external funding would be 
preferable. 

 
 Allotment Strategy – this would be going out in the next few weeks. 
 
 Play areas – all refurbishments were up to date and the next projects to be 

reviewed would be Pages Park and the adult fitness trail at Astral Park. 
 
 Bandstand – all improvements had been well received with just some 

brickwork repairs to be completed. 
 
 Hedgelaying – this project is on track and would be starting in the next few 

months. 
 
 Parson’s Close Friends Group – recruitment activity was still ongoing. 
 
 RESOLVED to note the report. 
 
133/GE REVIEW OF GREEN FLAG AWARD RECOMMENDATIONS  
  

The Committee received a report in respect of the Green Flag Award for 
Pages Park and Parson’s Close Recreation Ground. The feedback and 
comments from the judges would be assessed and where appropriate, would 
be the subject of future work.  
 
RESOLVED to note the report. 

Page 3



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  10 September 2018     
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  47 

  
  
134/GE ROSPA PLAY AREAS INSPECTION REPORT  
 
 The Committee received an update and findings from this year’s annual 

independent playground and equipment inspections.  Clarification was 
provided regarding the designation of ‘high’ risk for three sites and any repairs 
carried out would be covered under existing revenue budgets.   

 
 RESOLVED to note the report. 
 

 135/GE   THREE MONTH BUDGET MONITORING REPORT  
   

  The Committee received a budget monitoring report for the period April to 
June 2018. 

 
 RESOLVED to note the report. 

 
136/GE REVIEW OF FEES AND CHARGES FOR  PAVILION HIRE, USE OF PARKS 

AND CEMETERY FEES FROM 1 APRIL 2019  
 
 The Committee received and considered a report on the review of fees and 

charges for Pavilion hire  use of parks and cemetery fees from 1 April 2019.  
Proposals for the Pavilions would not apply to Astral Park as these fees would 
be the subject of separate review. 

 
 RESOLVED to – 
 

1.1 endorse all fees and charges for Cemeteries be increased by the 
September 2018 Retail Price Index (RPI) plus 1% (and rounded up 
to the nearest 50p before VAT. 

1.2 endorse all fees and charges for Pavilion hire and use of parks 
(excluding Astral Park) be increased by the September 2018 Retail 
Price Index (RPI) plus 1% (and rounded up to the nearest 50p before 
VAT) 

1.3 endorse all fees and charges for all pitch hire be increased by the 
September 2018 Retail Price Index (RPI) plus 1% (and rounded up 
to the nearest 50p before VAT). However, this would be delayed 
until the 31st July 2019 to avoid a mid season  increase. 

  
137/GE UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENT MANAGEMENT POLICY  
 

The Committee received a report to seek Member endorsement in respects 
of the way the Town Council manages unauthorised encampments on Town 
Council owned land.  
 
RESOLVED to – 
 
1.1 note the report 
1.2  endorse and recommend to Policy and Finance Committee the 

Unauthorised Encampment Managmeent Policy as set out below:- 
 

Page 4



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  10 September 2018     
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  48 

i. The Town Council will by way of appropriate and measured 
target hardening take all reasonable steps to avoid the potential 
for future unauthorsie encampments to take place on Town 
Council land. 

ii. That delegated powers be afforded to the Town Clerk in respect 
of dealing with unauthorised encampments should and when 
they occur. 

 
138/GE ADJOURNMENT OF MEETING 
 

The meeting was briefly adjourned at 2030 hours in order to view the Pages 
Park Pavilion Building. 

  
139/GE RECONVENE THE MEETING  
 
 The meeting was reconvened at 2035 hours. 
 
140/GE EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
 

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature 
of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion 
regarding: 

 
(i) Pages Park Pavilion Refurbishment 
(ii) Salvation Army Clothes Bank  
(iii) Parson’s Close refreshment concession 
(iv) Parson’s Close ice cream concession 

 

 
141/GE PAGES PARK PAVILION REFURBISHMENT 
 

As highlighted during the brief tour of the building and as previously 
discussed by Committee, it was noted that options and costs for 
refurbishment of the pavilion were currently under review and that proposals 
would be brought to a future meeting for consideration.  

  
142/GE SALVATION ARMY CLOTHES BANK REPORT 
 

The Committee received a report in respect of siting of a Clothing Recycling 
Bank on Town Council land.   After discussion the Committee agreed that 
the Town Council car parks would not be large enough to allow lorry access 
for collection and within the town this facility was offered by Charity shops 
and a clothing collection bank within a supermarket car park. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 

1.1 To note the report 
1.2 Members agreed despite its well-meaning, the perceived dis-benefits 

appear to outweigh the benefits.  The car parks that the council runs 
are considered inappropriate by virtue of size and functionality.  

Page 5



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee  10 September 2018     
____________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                  Page  49 

 
143/GE PARSON’S CLOSE REFRESHMENT CONCESSION 
 

The Committee received and considered a report where three expressions 
of interest had been received.  After discussion Members agreed to appoint 
tenderer B to provide a café at Parson’s Close Recreation Ground. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
1.1 To appoint Tenderer B (Community Action Bedfordshire) to 

provide a café offer within Parson’s Close Recreation Ground for a 
period of 5 years. 

1.2 That the rent of £12,000 per annum be reviewd in 2 years’ time 
  
 
144/GE PARSON’S CLOSE ICE CREAM CONCESSION 
 

The Committee received and considered a report to seek member 
endorsement to undertake a competitive tender for the standalone 
concession for the right to sell ice-cream and minerals for a period of 5 years. 
 
A question was raised regarding the sale of cold drinks from both  an ice 
cream van and the kiosk.  If the ice cream van could not sell cold drinks 
revised  negotiations may be needed with officers regarding  the tender. 
 
RESOLVED to endorse that Officers undertake a competitive tender for 
the standalone concession for the right to sell ice-cream for a period of 
5 years. 

 
 
The meeting closed at 2052 hours. 
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 10 SEPTEMBER 2018. 
 
 
 
 
Chair                    3 DECEMBER 2018  

Page 6



 
Page 1 of 2 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE  

WORK PLAN 2018-2019  
 
 

WORK PLAN 2018-2019 
 

Meeting Date Regular Updates Work Plan 2018-2019 

4th June 2018   
Astral Park 
 
 

 
Review a range of enhancements to the cemetery service 
 
“Friends” groups for various parks, cemeteries and open spaces update 
 
Review of the Tree Management Policy 
 

10th September 2018  
Presentation  
 
3-month budget 
monitoring 
 
Astral Park 

 
Review of fees and charges for pavilion hire, use of parks and cemetery fees from 1 April 
2019. 
 
Review of Green Flag Award recommendations 
 
RoSPA Play Areas Inspection Report 
 
Town Council owned pollinator sites 

3rd December 2018 6-month budget 
monitoring 
 
Astral Park 
 
 

 
Report from judges of the 2018 Anglia in Bloom competition. 
 
Review of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom funding  
 
2019/2020 Budget. 
 
 

4th March 2019  
Presentation  
 
9-month budget 
monitoring 
 

 
Waste management and recycling update 
 
Review of the underwriting of the Annual Fireworks Display  
 
Review of the Cemeteries Rules and Regulations  

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 5



 
Page 2 of 2 

Astral Park 
 
 

Review of the play area improvement and safer surfacing programmes 
 
New Equipment 
 
Consider draft work plan for 2019/2020 

 

P
age 8



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Grounds and Environmental Services Committee  

 
Date:    3rd December 2018 
 
Title: Review of Anglia in Bloom 2018 

Campaign 
 
Purpose of the Report: To provide Members with a review 

of the 2018 Campaign. 
 
Contact Officer: Ian Haynes – Head of Grounds and 

Environmental Services  
 

 

Corporate Objective/s  Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council - Three Year Plan – 
objective 34 
 
“Support the “in Bloom” 
committee in the creation 
and implementation of a 
three-year improvement 
programme. 
 

Implications:   

Financial  None  

Human Resources  None  

Operational/Service 
delivery 

 None 

Procedural/Legal  None 

Risk/Health and Safety  None 

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Should members be minded, the proposals are to: 
 
1.1 To note the report. 
 
1.2 To formally thank all the local volunteers involved in this year’s 

Leighton-Linslade in Bloom campaign. Especially The Friends of 
Leighton-Linslade in Bloom. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 
  
1.3 To request that the Chair of the Grounds and Environmental Services 

Committee writes to all key members thanking them for this year’s 
achievements. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Leighton-Linslade in Bloom initiative has continued effortlessly to oversee 

this year’s initiative and judging for this year’s campaign took place in July. 
 
2.2 Leighton-Linslade had another blooming marvellous result at the annual Anglia 

in Bloom awards and it has been revealed that the town has received a Gold 
accolade in the Large Town (12,001-35,000 Residents) category – matching 
their achievements in previous years. 

 
2.3 A breakdown of our fantastic results are; 
 

o Leighton-Linslade - Gold 
o Pages Park - Gold 
o Mentmore Park and Memorial Gardens - Gold 
o Linslade Recreation Ground - Silver Gilt 
o Parson's Close Recreation Ground - Gold 
o Tiddenfoot Waterside Park - Gold 
o Vandyke Cemetery - Gold 
o Old Linslade - Gold 
o The Stag - Gold 
o The Black Lion - Silver Gilt 
o The Golden Bell - Gold 
o The Hare Inn - Gold 
o The Ship Inn – Gold 
o Linslade Wood – Gold and Category Winner 

 
2.4 Continuing on from last year, the key to success has been ‘Community 

involvement’ where everyone pulls together, gets involved and then delivers, 
communities are also recognising the importance of sustainable displays 
coupled with respectable horticultural standards, delivering outstanding floral 
displays, these are all achieved through the support from sponsors and 
community groups engaged across the town, who are all dedicated to 
enhancing their community. 

 
3. SPECIAL AWARDS  
 
3.1 TACTIC has won the overall special award for the best young people’s project 

(aged 12-18 years) and there were nominations in the Best Community Project 
with the Linslade Community Garden and the Best Sustainable Garden with 
West Street Drought Garden. 

 
4. CONCLUSION 
 

Page 10



 
  
4.1 The Leighton-Linslade in Bloom initiative has brightened up the town and 

makes it a more attractive place to live, work and visit. 
 
4.2 The excellent success has been achieved by the Town Council working in 

partnership with volunteers. 
 
4.3 The plantings and floral displays help underpin the economic vibrancy of the 

town and town centre in particular. This year standards have continued on from 
last year with excellent awards achieved, the outstanding community work, 
many resourceful projects and superb colourful displays have all added to these 
standards. 

 
4.4 The Town Council wishes to congratulate all the communities and 

neighbourhoods in the parish, for their enthusiasm, commitment and effort 
made to improve, develop and sustain our local environments across the town, 
it is a great credit to you all and would like to take the opportunity to thank its 
own staff as the Grounds and Environmental Services team do endless amount 
of work behind the scenes get everything ready for judging day but also make 
the town look lovely all year round. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Grounds and Environmental Services Committee 

 
Date:    3rd December 2018  
 
Title:  Leighton-Linslade in Bloom Funding 
 
Purpose of the Report: To continue to support the development 

of this important community initiative for 
the next three financial years. 

 
Contact Officer: Ian Haynes – Head of Grounds and 

Environmental Services  
 

 

Corporate Objective/s  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council - Three Year Plan – 
objective 33 ‘Support the in 
Bloom committee in the 
creation and implementation of 
a three year improvement 
programme’ 
 

Implications:   

Financial √ That a maximum value of 
£5,000 per annum which is to 
be met from Budget Code 
4413/220 “Leighton-Linslade in 
Bloom”. 

Human Resources   

Operational/Service 
delivery 

√  

Procedural/Legal  Enter into a Service Level 
Agreement (attached) 

Risk/Health and Safety √  

 
1. RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
Should members be minded, the proposals are to: 

 
1.1 To note the report. 
 
1.2 To consider formalising the partnership relationship between the Town 

Council and The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom by directly 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



 
  

   
 

funding a Service Level Agreement (attached) to the maximum value of 
£5,000 per annum which is to be met from Budget Code 4413/220 
“Leighton-Linslade in Bloom”. 

 
1.3 To consider transferring monies held by the Town Council to The Friends 

of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom once they have become a fully constituted 
group as para break down in para 7.3 

 
1.4 To consider transferring the remaining money back to the Town Councils 

General Reserves as para break down in para 7.3 
 
1.5 To Endorse and Approve that up to a maximin of £5,000 be spent from 

9043/950 in improvements to the Community Gardens and the Leighton-
Linslade in Bloom initiative 

 
2.  BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 Leighton-Linslade in Bloom has been going for ten years and has had another 
blooming marvellous result at the annual Anglia in Bloom awards. 

 
2.2 Leighton-Linslade in Bloom is an umbrella organisation which is made up of 

many different groups and organisation that all support the initiative and shares 
in their successes. 

 
3.0  CORE PILLARS OF ANGLIA IN BLOOM 
 
3.1 It is important to remember that the entire tour route is subject to judging; that 

means what the judges observe on the way from one feature stop to another, 
as well as what they see at all the stops and as they further explore sites on 
foot during the tour, are ALL subject to judging.  Furthermore, the campaign 
should have considered the entire community not just the high street and that, 
at the very least, there is plans to address “problem” areas (i.e. vacant 
premises/plots, eyesores etc.). 

 
3.2 There are three core pillars of Anglia in Bloom; 
 

o Horticultural Achievement 
o Environmental Responsibility 
o Community Participation 

 
3.3 These will have to be embedded within campaign activities and must benefit 

the community not just for today but for the longer term. 
 
4.0 AWARDS CRITERIA 
 
4.1 Working in partnership has resulted in the Town achieving Gold award this is 

the highest mark possible and demonstrates an exceptionally high standard 
throughout. A consistent approach which demonstrates both best practice and 

Page 16



 
  

   
 

sustainable effort. Meets all of the judging criteria and objectives of Anglia in 
Bloom and scores very highly in each section of judging. 

 
 
5.0 PREVIOUS CAMPAIGNS 
 
5.1  Continuing on from previous years successes, our key has been ‘Community 

involvement’ where everyone pulls together, gets involved and then delivers. 
Communities are also recognising the importance of sustainable displays 
coupled with good horticultural standards to deliver outstanding floral displays. 
These are all achieved through the support from sponsors and community 
groups engaged across the town, who are all dedicated to enhancing their 
community. 

 
6.0 FUTURE AND ON-GOING PROJECTS 
 
6.1 The Leighton-Linslade in Bloom initiative has brightened up the town and made 

it a more attractive place to live, work and visit. The excellent success has been 
achieved by the Leighton-Linslade in Bloom working with the Town Council and 
with its volunteers. 

 
6.2 The main volunteers associated with the Leighton-Linslade in Bloom are 

indistinguishable from the umbrella organisation. The Friends of Leighton-
Linslade in Bloom works hard behind the scene. 

 
6.3 It is believed that improving our high profile planting schemes and floral displays 

will help underpin the economic vibrancy of the town and the town centre in 
particular. This year improving standards have continued with excellent awards 
being achieved by outstanding community work, many resourceful projects and 
superb colourful displays. All future projects will have to embed the core pillars 
of Anglia in Bloom and must benefit the community not just for today but for the 
longer term. 

 
6.4 It is considered that The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom now have the 

experience and confidence to become constituted group in their own right, that 
will not only demonstrate continuous improvement but will allow the group 
greater flexibility to deliver on it joints aims and objectives. 

 
6.5 It is believed that a modest £5,000.00 will allow the group to deliver the following 

annual projects; 
 

o 2 x Community Gardens  
o 2 x Annual Schools and young person’s competitions  
o Production of an annual Calendar  
o Delivery of the annual Leighton-Linslade Open Gardens 
o 2 x Plant Stalls  
o 1 x Area per year that is improved on the judging route 

 
7. REALLOCATION OF MONIES  

Page 17



 
  

   
 

 
7.1 Since Leighton-Linslade in Bloom was created in 2010 all underspend of 

revenue monies and overbudget income and income has been transferred in 
an Earmarked Reserve held by the Town Council 9043/950 currently has 
£10,452. 

 
7.2  The break down of this money is as follows; 
 

 
 
7.3 It is Officers recommendation that any remaining monies left over from the first 

column (£5,013.00) be transferred back into the Town Councils General 
Reserve as this is unspent public money and that any remaining monies left 
over from the middle column (£5,439.00) be transferred to the newly constituted 
group, The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom on proof that they have 
actually formed a constituted group. Subject to Recommendation 1.5, both 
parties have agreed to split any purchases 50:50 between both sums of monies. 

 
8.0 CONCLUSION 
 
8.1 Many of the Town Council’s areas benefit from the work of the volunteers 

through projects such as the community gardens in Pages Park and Linslade 
Recreation Ground. 

 
8.2 The partnership working between both organisations will continue and it is 

believed that our tenth campaign will be our most successful to date. 

Page 18



Draft Constitution of The Friends of Leighton-Linslade In Bloom 

 

1. Name 

The name of the group shall be The Friends of Leighton-Linslade In Bloom 

2. Aim 

The aim of The Friends of Leighton-Linslade In Bloom is: 

To create lasting improvements to the local environment in the Town of Leighton-Linslade for the 
benefit of local residents, workers and visitors, now and for future generations to enjoy imaginative 
planting of trees, shrubs, flowers and landscaping. 

3. Objectives 

Our Aim is achieved by: 

 developing and maintaining our Community Gardens  

 working with schools and young person’s groups to encourage and raise interest 

 working in partnership with the Town Council to enter the Anglia In Bloom Campaign 

 encouraging others to take an interest and/or participate in our activities 

 working with the Town and Central Bedfordshire Councils to improve relevant areas 
around the Town owned by Central Bedfordshire Council 

 conducting legal activities to raise income for the group, part of which may be 
donated to a local charity. 

4. Relationship with the Town Council 

The group will be working in partnership with the Town Council under a service level 
agreement. This agreement and its duration are reached by mutual decision. 

5. Membership 

Membership is open to anyone who supports the aim of The Friends of Leighton-Linslade In 
Bloom. 

There is no membership fee for joining. 

A list of all members’ names, postal and email addresses and telephone numbers will be 
maintained by the Committee. 

Normally, members who do not attend Group Meetings, are no longer involved in the 
activities of, or in communication with, the group over a period of 1 year, shall be deemed 
to have left the group. Their name and details will be removed from the membership list.  

Page 19



 

6. Complaints Procedure 

All complaints against the group will be received in writing addressed to one of the officers 
and will be dealt with according to the group’s documented ‘Complaints Procedure’. 

7. Health and Safety Issues 

All group projects will be risk assessed and the risks documented (as required by the Health 
and Safety at Work Act 1974 and other relevant legislation and related regulations, guidance 
and directives in force). Each volunteer participating in the project will be made aware of 
the risks involved and will be deemed to have understood and accepted the risks by signing 
the assessment form. 

8. Equal Opportunities 

The Friends of Leighton-Linslade In Bloom will not discriminate on the grounds of gender, 
race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexuality, disability, religious or political belief, marital 
status or age. 

9. Officers and Committee 

The Committee will normally consist of 5 officers. Others may be co-opted onto the 
Committee at the discretion of the Officers. Normally an Officer will serve a 2-year period on 
the Committee. 

The Officers’ roles are as follows: 

 Chair, who shall chair both general and committee meetings 
 Secretary, who shall be responsible for the taking of minutes and the distribution of 

all papers 
 Treasurer who shall be responsible for maintaining accounts 
 Membership secretary, who shall be responsible for keeping records of members 
 Publicity Officer, who shall be responsible for advertising the group and its activities 

with a view to attracting new members. 

In the event of an Officer standing down during the year a replacement will be elected by 
the next Group Meeting of members. 

10. Meetings 

10.1. Annual General Meetings 

An Annual General Meeting (AGM) will be held within 13 months of the previous AGM, 
normally in November. 

Page 20



All members will be notified in writing at least 3 weeks before the date of the meeting, 
giving the venue, date and time. 

Nominations for the Committee may be made to the Secretary before the meeting, or at the 
meeting. 

The quorum for the AGM will be 6 members of which 3 must be Officers of the Committee, 
and a representative of the Town Council. 

 

At the AGM: 

 The Committee, normally by the Chair, will present an Annual Report. 
 The Treasurer will present the accounts of the group for the previous year. 
 The Officers for the forthcoming year will be elected. 
 Any proposals given to the Secretary at least 14 days in advance of the meeting will 

be discussed. 

10.2 Extraordinary General Meetings   

The Secretary will call an Extraordinary General Meeting at the request of the majority of 
the Committee or at least 6 other members, giving a written request to the Chair or 
Secretary stating the reason for their request. 

The meeting will take place within 21 days of the request. 

All members will be given at least 14 day’s notice of the date of such a meeting, giving the 
venue, date, time and agenda, and notice may be by telephone, email or post. 

The quorum for the Extraordinary General Meeting will be 6 members.  

10.3 Group Meetings 

Group Meetings are open to all members and other interested parties and will be held at 
least once every month, on the 3rd Tuesday of each month from October to June(inc) but 
excluding December. Occasionally, additional meetings may be required.  

All members will be asked for Agenda items 14 days prior to the meeting. Notice of the 
meeting will be provided to members 7 days before with the venue, date, time and 
agenda.  Notice may be made by telephone, email or post. 

The quorum for a Group Meeting shall be 6 members. 

10.4 Committee Meetings 

The Committee will meet prior to the Group Meetings as required. 

Page 21



 

 

11. Rules of Procedure for Meetings 

All questions will be discussed openly and if a consensus cannot be reached, a vote will be 
taken, and a decision made by a simple majority of votes cast by members present. If the 
votes are equal the Chair will have the additional casting vote. 

12. Finances 

An account will be maintained on behalf of the Friends of Leighton-Linslade In Bloom at a 
bank agreed by the Committee.  There will be 3 cheque signatories listed by the Committee 
of which 2 will be required to sign any cheques raised (one of the two signatories must be 
the Treasurer). The 3 signatories must not be related nor be members of the same 
household. 

All payments will be signed by 2 of the signatories. 

 For cheque payments, the 2 signatories will sign the cheque. 
 For other payments (such as BACS payments, cash withdrawals, credit card and debit 

card payments or cash payments), a requisition note will be signed by 2 signatories, 
and held by the Treasurer. 

Records of income and expenditure will be maintained by the Treasurer and a financial 
statement given at each Group Meeting. 

All money raised by or on behalf of the Friends of Leighton-Linslade In Bloom is only to be 
used to further the aims and objectives of the group, as specified in items 2 and 3 of this 
Constitution. 

13. Amendments to the Constitution 

Amendments to the constitution may only be made at the Annual General Meeting or an 
Extraordinary General Meeting. 

Any proposal to amend the constitution must be given to the Secretary in writing. The 
proposal must then be circulated with the notice of meeting. 

Any proposal to amend the constitution will require a two thirds majority of those present 
and entitled to vote. 

14. Dissolution 

If a meeting, by simple majority, decides that it is necessary to close the group it may call an 
Extraordinary General Meeting to do so. The sole business of this meeting will be to dissolve 
the group. 

Page 22



If it is agreed to dissolve the group, once outstanding debts, including those to the Town 
Council have been paid, all remaining money and other assets will be donated to a local 
charitable organisation. The charitable organisation will be agreed at the meeting which 
agrees the dissolution. 

 

This constitution was agreed at the Inaugural Group Meeting of the Friends of Leighton-
Linslade In Bloom on:- 

Date ………/…………/……………. 

Name and position in group …………………………………………. 

Signed …………………………………………. 

Name and position in group …………………………………………. 

Signed …………………………………………. 

 

 

 

Updated November 2018      End of draft constitution 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom – Funding Service Level 
Agreement 

 

 
 

1 PARTIES TO AGREEMENT 
 

1.1 This Service Level Agreement (SLA) is made between: 
 

The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom, as the local community “In Bloom” voluntary 
group affiliated to Leighton-Linslade Town Council. 

 
(Called the Organisation) 

 
and 

 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council (Called the Council) 

 
Address: The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard. LU71HD 

 
1.2 Representatives 

 
The Organisation’s nominated officer to manage the delivery of service under this 
agreement is: 
 
Name: Rosie Palmer  
Job Title: Chair  
Telephone No: 01525 378526 
Email: rosie.palmer5@btinternet.com 
 
The Council's representative and supervising officer for this agreement is:  
 
Name: Ian Haynes  
Job Title:    Head of Grounds and Environmental Services  
Telephone No: 01525 631926 
Email: ian.haynes@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 
Any changes in respect of these representatives will be notified, in writing, to the other 

party giving 3-months’ notice of change. 
 

2 PROJECT TITLE: FUNDING SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT 

 

3 SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED AND THE ORGANISATION’S OBLIGATIONS 
 

3.1 The Organisation hereby agrees to: 
 

a) deliver the specified service as set out in the project specification in Appendix 1. 
b) adhere to all conditions set out below. 

Page 25

mailto:rosie.palmer5@btinternet.com
mailto:ian.haynes@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk


The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom – Funding Service Level 
Agreement 

 

 

 

 

4 CONTRACT DETAILS 
 

4.1 The agreement will be in the sum of £5,000 (five thousand pounds only) as identified in 
the attached appendix 1. The agreement will commence on 31st March 2019 and 
complete on 30th March 2023 (subject to standing committees and Full Council continued 
Approval) 

 
4.2 Payment for this service will be made on an annual basis in advance.  

 
4.3 Payments will be exclusive of VAT. 

 
4.4 Payment in the second year and subsequent years will be subject to the submission of a 

satisfactory annual progress report and may be adjusted accordingly. 
 

4.5 The organisation will agree that no further request for funding shall be received by the 
Council in regard to the support of The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom. 
 

5 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

5.1 The organisation must ensure the achievement of the following key performance 
measures: 

 
 Risk Assessment of Project Areas and associated remedial works are in place prior to 

the completion of any tasks. 
 

6 MONITORING AND INFORMATION 
 

6.1 The organisation will submit an annual monitoring return relating to progress of the 
service/project, as directed by the Council. 

 
6.2 A representative of council may visit all associated sites quarterly to ensure the provision of 

goods and services are in line with this contract. 

 
6.3 The organisation shall not restrict at any time during the contract access to any sites. For 

the purpose of external judging and where possible will provide representatives as 
required across the whole judging route.  
 

6.4 All press releases and or reference to any funded project will either have to be based on 
pre agreed text or approved by both parties prior to its release. The default position will 
be if one or both parties cannot agree the text of any statement then nothing is to be 
submitted and or used. 
 

6.5 Each party confirms that it will comply with the requirements of the Data Protection Act  
1998 and implements the EU Data Protection Directive (95/46/EC). 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom – Funding Service Level 
Agreement 

 

 
 

7 QUALITY AND EQUALITY 
 

7.1 In carrying out the service, the organisation shall ensure that itself and its volunteers and 
agents comply with the best professional practice in relation to equalities in employment 
and service delivery. The organisation must operate an equal opportunity policy. 

 
7.2 The organisation shall at all times during the contract period comply with the 

requirements of the Race Relations Act 1976, the Employment Rights (Consolidated) Act 
1996, and Sex Discrimination Act 1995. 

 
7.3 The organisation must operate a complaint procedure that complies with best 

practice. 

 

8 STAFFING 
 

8.1 The organisation shall deploy (whether in a paid or voluntary capacity) sufficient 
personnel to ensure that the delivery of the community gardens are provided at all times. 
 

8.2 Where necessary, cover arrangements must be put in place to ensure service standards 
and delivery is maintained. 
 

9 HEALTH AND SAFETY 
 

9.1 The organisation shall at all times conform with the requirements of the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 1974, and other relevant legislation and related regulations, guidance and 
directives in force from time to time.  

 
10 INSURANCE 

 
10.1 The organisation shall effectively maintain insurance arrangements in relation to 

Employers Liability. 
 

11 FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY AND PROBITY 
 

11.1 The organisation shall comply with all relevant legislation and best practice 
regarding accounting records, including Charity and Company law where 
applicable. 

 
11.2 As soon as the organisation becomes aware of or suspects any fraudulent action or 

malpractice in the performance of the service or otherwise, the contract manager of the 
organisation shall notify the Council, who will agree an appropriate course of action with 
the organisation. 

 
12 THE COUNCIL'S OBLIGATIONS AND PENALTIES FOR NON PERFORMANCE OF CONTRACT 

BY THE ORGANISATION 
 

12.1 As the commissioner of the service, the Council is responsible for working with the  
12.2  

 
 

Page 27



The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom – Funding Service Level 
Agreement 

 

 
 
organisation, offering appropriate advice and guidance in relation to service delivery 
and management issues. It will ensure that it meets all its obligations as set out in this 
contract.  
 

12.3 However, in the case of non-performance of contract by the organisation, the Council 
may: 

 

 Withhold payment until satisfactory audited figures on performance are produced; 
 Terminate the contract in accordance with the terms and conditions. 

 
13 TERMINATION 

 
13.1  The service contract may be terminated if either party commit material breach of the 

terms of the agreement, which shall be incapable of remedy.  
 
13.2 In the event of such breach and determination occasioning costs or expenses will not 

be passed on to the organisation. 

Page 28



The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom – Funding Service Level 
Agreement 

 

 

Authorised Signatory for and on Behalf of 
The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in 
Bloom 

 
Name:    

 

Signature:    

 

Date:    

 

Authorised Signatory for and on 
 

Behalf of Leighton-Linslade Town Council 
 

Name:    
 

Signature:    

 

Date:    

Page 29



The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom – Funding Service Level 
Agreement 

 

APPENDIX 1: SLA SCHEDULE – 2019/2023 

 
 
 

 
 
This agreement is between The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom and Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council is to formalise their joint understanding of what the organisation and the Council are 
responsible for under the umbrella of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom ; 
 
Leighton-Linslade in Bloom is solely owned by the Council its name and its logo is only to be used 
with prior approval of the Council's representative and supervising officer. 
 
The funding service level agreement is to achieve the following objectives; 
 

1 - To promote, enhance and work with the community of Leighton-Linslade to participate 
in the Royal Horticulture Society’s - Britain in Bloom. To encourage development and 
improvements in the three main areas of assessment; environmental responsibility, 
community participation and horticultural achievement. 
 
2- In this context “community of Leighton-Linslade” is defined as any individual, club, 
organisation or business that can provide expertise, knowledge, support or advice to the 
group for the betterment of this annual campaign. 
 
3 - To engage and encourage partnership between the community of Leighton-Linslade in 
the participation of the Britain in Bloom campaign in order to increase the economic, 
social, environmental and transformational impact on the town and community spirit. 
 
4 – A named representative will be able to attend, where required meetings associated 
with the Leighton-Linslade in Bloom initiative, i.e. projects not directly funded or 
supported by The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom. 
 
5 – By way of supporting the following tasks; 
   
  2 x Community Gardens  
  2 x Annual Schools and young person’s competitions  
  Production of an annual Calendar  
  Delivery of the annual Leighton-Linslade Open Gardens 
  2 x Plant Stalls  
  1 x Area per year that is improved on the judging route  

Page 30



 
 
 
 
 
 
Grounds and Environmental Services Committee     

 
Date:    3rd December 2018 
 
Title:   Astral Park Update 
 
Purpose of the Report: To provide an update on the latest centre 

activity and to consider the creation of a 
Task and Finish Group to review matters 
relating to Astral Park, including the 
setting of fees and charges. 

 
Contact Officer: Mark Penton, Senior Centre co-ordinator 
 
 Ian Haynes, Head of Grounds and 

Environmental Services  
 

 

Corporate Objective/s  Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council Three Year Plan & 
Objectives 2015-2018 
Aim 3 – “To provide great 
public open spaces, varied 
opportunities for sport and 
leisure and to exceed 
expectations in delivering 
cemetery and allotment 
services” 

Implications:   

Financial √  

Human Resources   

Operational/Service 
delivery 

√  

Procedural/Legal   

Risk/Health and Safety √  

 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION/S 
 

Should members be minded, the proposals are: 
 
1.1 To note the report 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8



 
  
1.2 i) To establish a Task and Finish Group whose purpose is to review the 

performance of the Astral Park Facility; 
 
ii) To appoint a maximum of 6 Councillors to form the Task and Finish 
Group with the expectation that its recommendations be presented to the 
Grounds and Environmental Services Committee at its meeting to be held 
4th March 2019.  
 

 
2. TASK AND FINISH GROUP 
 
2.1  First opened in April 2014, Astral Park was envisaged as a modern and 

adaptable venue to host weddings, business seminars, sports tournaments, 
local clubs and societies and a wide variety of other regular activities and one-
off special events. 

 
2.2 Having been operational for five years it is recommended to Committee that a 

Task and Finish group be created whose purpose is to review the centre’s 
performance and in particular:- 

 
o Overall purposes of the building  
o Headline Services and Activities offered and available to 

residents  
o Staffing Structure and hours of operation 
o Subsidy expectation  
o Fees and Charges with consideration to different tariffs for 

community group, charities and commercial businesses  
o Creation of a Business Plan listing strategic objectives 

o Usage and pricing policies 
o Usage projections  
o Financial implications  
o KPI’s  
o Creation, development and roll out of a fully costed 

development plan 
 
2.3 The creation of a Business Plan and Development Plan are seen as key 

documents that will identify the future objectives and direction to be taken by 
Astral Park Sports and Community Centre going forward and will help guide the 
management team in ensuring its future successes. It is intended that these 
documents be endorsed by the Grounds and Environmental Services 
Committee and Full Council to validate their standing going forward.  

 
2.4 It is believed that the membership of the Task and Finish Group will be made 

up from 4 Members of the current Grounds and Environmental Services 
Committee and up to two Members whose personal and professional 
experiences will be benefit the group in its direction. 

 
3. INCOME AND EXPENDITURE  
 

Page 32



 
  
3.1 Income and expenditure figures are correct as of 30th October 2018. 
 
 Income - Is currently tracking at 50.2% which is 8.13% behind budget 
 

Expenditure - Currently at 53.1% which is above the baseline, however this is 
due to two large service contracts coming out early in the year, which is to cover 
for the servicing of kitchen which takes place twice yearly and the annual 
servicing of the partition walls. 
 

3. RISKS 
 
3.1 There are no known risk. 
 
4. MARTETING AND ADVERTISING  
 
4.1 The centre team with the assistance of the Democratic and Central Services 

staff continue to work closely to increase traffic to the Astral Park website. The 
online enquiry form on the site continues to be well used and the team respond 
to approximately 10-12 enquiries per week from this form alone. 

 
5. FOOTBALL 
 
5.1 The Grounds team have Filled all the cracks on Astral Park playing surfaces 

and all pitches are now fully playable, the seeming never ending task has 
resulted so far in over 110 tonnes of soil being moved by hand to fill the cracks 
on the junior sports pitches. 

 
6. GENERAL UPDATE  
 
6.1 The centre team has calculated the number of ‘one off’ bookings from January 

to December, these are shown below and total 116. These bookings are 
classified as bookings that are not regular or weekly bookings and are generally 
for a closed group of invited guests. 

 

Type of bookings Number of bookings 

Children’s Parties 31 

Functions (weddings, christening, 
adult parties etc.) 

24 

Training, Business Meetings, AGM 27 

Networking groups 24 

Police Community Days  3 

Mayoral Events 3 

Wedding Fayre 1 

Business Fayre 1 

Best Bar none awards 1 

Christmas Fayre 1 

 

Page 33



 
  
6.2 The centre team has also calculated the weekly footfall data from those who 

have solely attended Astral Park for community related bookings  
 

January February March April May 

346 662 496 390 605 

487 438 730 424 524 

498 766 559 510 652 

507 301 298 499 641 

479    414 

Total - 2317 Total- 2167 Total - 2083 Total-  1823 Total- 2836 

 
 

June July August September October 

518 471 377 391 569 

750 428 327 549 526 

442 543 497 484 437 

483 414 289 460 455 

  326  435 

Total - 2193 Total- 1856 Total - 1816 Total- 1884 Total- 2422 

 
6.3  The overall footfall to date is 21,397 visits from January to December  
 
7. RECENT CUSTOMER REVIEWS SINCE LAST COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
7.1 Below is a direct copy of our recent customer reviews. Our Facebook page is 

currently achieving a fantastic rating of 4.8 stars out of 5 and we have received 
79 reviews in total; 

 
Review -  Astral Park Sports and Community Centre – 26/11/18 
 
“A fantastic venue for our daughter’s 21st birthday party - Mark and his team 

made sure we had everything we needed & the food was lovely 😊Thank 

you all so much for helping us celebrate with our family & friends.” 
 
Review - Astral Park Sports and Community Centre – 23/09/18 
 
“We would recommend the venue highly. The staff were fantastic last night. 
They kitted the hall out lovely. The food was superb. And we had an auntie 
who was unwell and the staff were brilliant doing all they could to help out. 
Thank you everyone last night.” 

 
8. CONCLUSION  
 
8.1 The centre is providing a valuable facility accommodating community functions 

and events over its first five years. However, the direction the centre takes in 
the next five years is important and required strong direction.  

Page 34



Page 35

Agenda Item 10



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



Page 43

Agenda Item 11



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



GREAT PUBLIC OPEN SPACES 
 

To provide great public open spaces with varied opportunities for sport and leisure and to exceed expectations in delivering cemetery and allotment services. 

This work will primarily be within the remit of the Grounds and Environmental Services Committee. 
 

35 
To refurbish Pages Park pavilion to ensure it is safe and suitable for continued community and sporting use. 

36 
To create a plan for the management, maintenance and use of all pavilion buildings. 

37 
To continue to provide excellent play equipment across the parish and to expand the range of accessible play equipment available. 

38 
To expand memorial services available at Town Council run cemeteries. 

39 
To continue to actively seek additional cemetery land or where this is not possible, to consider other ways in which to expand burial capacity. 

40 
To continue to computerise historic cemetery records. 

41 
To create a ten year planned maintenance programme for buildings and assets. 

42 
To continue to seek freehold depot premises. 
 

43 
To continue to aim towards the creation of localised Friends groups. 
 

44 
To consider options for restoration of historic features and monuments, where practicable and viable. 

45 
To seek to maintain and enhance sporting provision 
 

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 12



46 
To continue to build on the success of the annual Anglia in Bloom campaign 
 

47 
To install interpretation panels in the parks and open spaces.  
 

 

P
age 56



 
 
 
 
 
Grounds and Environmental Services Committee      

 
Date:    3rd December 2018  
 
Title: Cemetery Service Update   
 
Purpose of the Report: To update Members on the Cemetery 

Service project. 
 
Contact Officer: Ian Haynes – Head of Grounds and 

Environmental Services 
 

 

Corporate Objective/s  LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim 
3 “To provide great public open 

spaces, varied opportunities 
for sport and leisure and to 

exceed expectations in 
delivering cemetery and 

allotment services” 
 

Implications:   

Financial √ £10,000 from Earmarked 
Reserve 9007/950 with 

available funds of £61,324 

Human Resources  None 

Operational/Service 
delivery 

 None 

Procedural/Legal  None 

Risk/Health and Safety  None 

 
1. RECOMMENDATION/S 
 

Should members be minded, the proposals are: 
 
1.1 To note the report. 

 
1.2 To endorse that a full review be conducted of the income gained through 

the sale of burial rights, cost of internment, memorials etc to ensure that 
revenue goes as far as possible in meeting the ongoing maintenance 
costs of existing plots with a projection on future budgets due to the large 
budget shortfall of circa £80,000 worth of income per annum within the 
next 5-10 years. 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 13



 
  
1.3 To Approve and Endorse a public consultation on the matter of grave re-

use and using the available space within a used grave and allocate up to 
£10,000 from Earmarked Reserve 9007/950 with available funds of £61,324 
 

1.4 To Approve and Endorse that up to £8,500.00 is allocated to the creation 
of digital maps for both Vandyke Road and Old Linslade Cemeteries and 
that all Burial Registers and Grant Books be scanned to create an 
electronic record. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 

 
2.1 In March 2014, work began on the creation of a cemetery extension at Vandyke 

Road Cemetery. Now complete, the extension will provide the parish with its 
only secured future burial space. 
 

2.2 The Town Council’s burial capacity should be classed as PROBLEMATIC. This 
is based upon the capacity status used in a recent audit of London burial 
provision undertaken by the University of York which defines: - 
 

 FULL: No burial space available/existing cemeteries deemed to be full 
or there are fewer than 100 interments a year in the borough in 
cemeteries, mostly re-opens and in created graves. 
 

 CRITICAL: Reliance on created graves only (ie graves only available in 
parts of the cemetery not originally designed to accommodate interment; 
in space created through the addition of topsoil or constructed above-
ground burial vaults; in existing capacity above common graves; or in 
reclaimed graves) and/or space is limited and unlikely to meet demand 
as indicated in the estimated demand for virgin space and the space is 
likely to be exhausted within the next ten years. 

 

 PROBLEMATIC: The borough has some virgin space remaining, but 
insufficient to meet the demand for the next twenty years. 

 

 ADEQUATE: There is sufficient new space is available to meet the 
estimated demand for virgin space, and/or an extension is likely to be 
brought into use 

 

 SUSTAINABLE: Grave re-use in the borough has extended the capacity 
of an existing cemetery infinitely. 

 
2.3 At the Grounds and Environmental Services Committee meeting held on 4th 

December 2017, the Committee endorsed that all possible alternatives be 
reviewed by Officers if new burial land can’t be secured with a detailed SWOT 
analysis of alternatives to be presented to committee before the end of 2018. 

 
2.4 It was noted that although the eastern urban extension development included 

cemetery provision, this was a small, landlocked site without any provision for 

Page 58



 
  

car parking and would only come forward at the very end of the site 
development. The land in question is also outside the parish boundary.  

 
 
 
3. CONTEXT FOR THE PROVISION OF CEMETERIES  
 
3.1 Historically the purpose of a cemetery has been the proper provision of facilities 

for the deceased by those left and is an important part of the bereavement 
process. For over 1,000 years burial was the only permitted way in which to 
dispose of the dead and was the exclusive preserve of the Church within 
churchyards, governed by ecclesiastical law.  

 
3.2 The urbanisation of society in the industrial period together with population 

growth meant that these churchyards could not cope and new cemeteries were 
created which often became the responsibility of the emerging local authorities.  

 
3.3 During the same period new secular laws were introduced to govern cemeteries 

and these laws remain largely in place in the present day. Cremation as a form 
of burial became increasingly popular in the 20th Century and now accounts for 
approximately 70% of burials.  

 
3.4 However, whilst at one time considered to be the most environmentally friendly 

method of disposal, concerns have been raised in more recent time regarding 
waste products produced by the cremation process, particularly mercury. This 
has led to the growth of Green or Woodland cemeteries some of which are 
provided by local authorities. 

 
4. OBLIGATIONS ON THE TOWN COUNCIL  
 
4.1 Leighton-Linslade Town Council is a burial authority by virtue of the Local 

Government Act 1972 and is legally obliged to maintain its cemeteries ‘in good 
order and repair’. It is not legally obliged to provide new burial space, but the 
sale of space generates income that funds the maintenance of cemeteries and 
provides a service to residents.  

 
4.2 If the Town Council does not continue to provide new burial space to meet 

demand, maintenance costs will still have to be met, creating a large budget 
shortfall.  

 
4.3 Although not a statutory responsibility on the Town Council, it is felt that public 

expectation was that cemetery facilities should be available within a reasonable 
proximity to residents and within the Town. 

 
5. DEMAND FOR BURIALS VS. CREMATION 
 
5.1 As indicated above cremation remains the most common form for the disposal 

of remains, but the evidence available to the Town Council indicated that whilst 
nationally approximately 350,000 cremations take place a year there are still 

Page 59



 
  

some 150,000 burials, (30% of total deaths). In addition officers felt there was 
some evidence of a beginning of a change in preference away from cremation 
in favour of burials in light of environmental concerns, increases in the 
proportions of ethnic minority groups for whom cremation is prohibited by their 
faith, and increasing popularity of ‘Green’ or ‘Woodland’ burials. Even if the 
proportion of burials within the Town remains close to the national average of 
30%, this demonstrates a current and ongoing need for cemeteries to be 
available to residents. 

 
6. NATIONAL, REGIONAL AND LOCAL TRENDS IN BIRTHS AND DEATHS  
 
6.1 Covering 716 square kilometres, Central Bedfordshire currently has a 

population of approximately 274,000 (Central Bedfordshire Key Facts and 
Figures July 2016) and is the 11th largest Unitary Authority in England by area 
and the 15th largest by population.  

 
6.2 Central Bedfordshire is one of the least densely populated Unitary Council 

areas and is classified as predominantly rural with just over half the population 
living in the rural area. Approximately 63% of the population are within the 
working age group, being between 16 and 65 years of age, although 81% of 
the population are considered to be economically active (aged 16-74).   

  
6.3 The Luton and Central Bedfordshire SHMA (May 2017) identifies population 

growth of 19.5% over the plan period to 2035 for Central Bedfordshire 
compared to a 13.4% increase identified for England over the same period.  

  
6.4 In line with national trends, Central Bedfordshire is also projected to have a rise 

in older age groups over the period (age ranges 70+), but also is projected to 
have rises in the 55-69 aged range. It is also likely that the delivery of new 
starter homes and family homes together with skilled jobs will also attract 
younger people and families which may have a significant effect on the age 
profile in Central Bedfordshire. This will put additional pressure on public 
services, including burial provision.  

  
6.5 Central Bedfordshire residents are generally healthy and the life expectancy for 

both men and women is longer than it is in England as a whole. However, 
residents of Central Bedfordshire do experience inequalities in health 
outcomes. 

 
7. LOCAL GUIDANCE  
 
7.1 In the Recreation and Open Space Strategy for Central Bedfordshire it states 

that the current projections indicate that death rates are likely to increase by 
2035 and there will be higher requirements for burial space. The projected 
population growth will further see the number of burials per annum increase.  

 
7.2 There is a strong emphasis on the provision of local burial space in Central 

Bedfordshire and as a consequence, almost all settlements have cemeteries 
and/or churchyards.  

Page 60



 
  
 
7.3 Several existing sites are approaching capacity and new space will be required 

to accommodate ongoing and increasing demand; and the quality of facilities is 
important and while most sites are well maintained, there is a requirement to 
improve some sites and to retain appropriate maintenance regimes in other 
areas.  

 
8. ANALYSIS OF NEED  
 
8.1 Figures from the Central Bedfordshire website gives the number of deaths in 

Central Bedfordshire in 2015 as 2,050 the population as 274,000, and the 
Crude Death Rate as 7.5. 

 
8.2 If this Crude Death Rate of Central Bedfordshire is applied to the population of 

Leighton Linslade, and we use the population figure of 39,300, the number of 
deaths in 2013, would be approximately 292. This is a little lower than the 
number of funerals declared by both the funeral directors in Leighton Linslade, 
however, the figures they gave were based on a current year, were very rough.  

 
8.3 In addition there would have been a population increase and the funeral 

directors may well run funerals for non-residents of Leighton Linslade.   
 
8.4 Leighton-Linslade has a slightly higher than national average burial compared 

with cremation at approximately 33% and 67% respectively and local funeral 
directors expressed the increase in popularity of burials.  

 
8.5 The Luton and Central Bedfordshire SHMA (May 2017) identifies population 

growth of 19.5% over the plan period to 2035 for Central Bedfordshire 
compared to a 13.4% increase identified for England over the same period.  

  
8.6 If the population increased by 19.5% to the year 2035, it would be 39,300 + 

7,663 = 46,963. At the Crude Death Rate of 7.5, there would be 352 deaths in 
the parish each year. 

 
8.7 These estimates should be treated with caution as a ‘best guess’, but they do 

provide a working indication of the level of provision that needs to be planned 
for. Given the limited remaining capacity of the Council’s own, this data does 
indicate that there will be a shortfall of burial provision in the medium term as 
measured against the anticipated demand. 

 
8.8 A standard grave is approximately 2.88m sq in area. Theoretically, a one 

hectare site would be able to accommodate 3,472 graves of this size if all 
available land was used and a site of approximately 2-3 hectares would be the 
minimum required to meet the estimated demand of 7,132 spaces (Roughly a 
61 year capacity).  

 
8.9 Of course this figure does not take account of land required for access roads, 

parking, pathways and necessary buildings on site all of which would reduce 
the net area available for graves. The layout and style of cemetery would also 

Page 61



 
  

significantly affect the usable area available together with site specific factors 
such as the water table.  

 
8.10 Another factors which would influence the capacity of a cemetery is the 

internment of cremated remains. A large proportion of cremations have ashes 
interned in small plots within a cemetery which although smaller than burial 
plots would still use up space and therefore need to be taken into consideration. 

 
9. RE-USE OF GRAVES AND ‘LIFT AND DEEPEN’ CONSIDERATIONS  
 
9.1 In mainland Europe the practice of the reuse of burial space is firmly 

established, but typically this involves the reuse of niches within above ground 
mausoleums and this type of provision is not widely practiced in the United 
Kingdom. 

 
9.2 One option to extend the capacity of below ground graves is the ‘Lift and 

Deepen ’ technique. Under this method, graves are excavated to their deepest 
depth, with all remains – including bodies and any coffin furniture – placed in a 
casket and re-interred at the bottom of the grave. Further burials can then take 
place on the same plot and the capacity of the cemetery extended. In 1994 
research into public attitudes to grave reuse undertaken by Douglas Davies and 
Alistair Shaw on behalf of 70 Burial Authorities indicated that the majority of 
respondents did not object to this option if it was well managed, and if 
disturbance took place only after 100 years. 

 
9.3 In 2004 the Government the published a consultation paper “Burial Law and 

Policy in the 21st Century: The Need for a sensitive and sustainable approach. 
In May of this year, the Government published its response to the consultation 
responses received and gave a clear steer that: “The Government has been 
persuaded that the re-use of graves is in principle justified and constitutes a 
prudent and proportionate response to the need for burial space. It has 
therefore decided to introduce arrangements under existing legislation, to 
enable local authorities to authorise the excavation of old grave using 
exhumation licences.” 

 
9.4 It is recognised that this subject needed to be approached with a high degree 

of sensitivity and that the issues involved were complex. However, it is felt that 
the re-use of graves was an option which did need to be considered locally as 
a possible mechanism of extending the capacity of existing cemeteries, subject 
to appropriate and sensitive processes being put in place to regulate the 
process, in particular the contacting of descendants in order to obtain 
permissions and the sensitive relocation of existing memorials or grave stones.  

 
9.5 It is also noted that the Government was indicating that 100 years should 

normally be the minimum period of time to elapse before a grave could be 
reused, but that there was a case for 75 years where available space was 
particularly short. 

 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS  

Page 62



 
  
 
10.1 That a full review be conducted of the income gained through the sale of burial 

rights, cost of internment, memorials etc to ensure that revenue goes as far as 
possible in meeting the ongoing maintenance costs of existing plots with a 
projection on future budgets due to the large budget shortfall of circa £80,000 
worth of income per annum within the next 5-10 years.  

 
10.2 That in light of emerging Government policy for the maximum use of cemeteries 

options for the sensitive future reuse of graves should be explored in order to 
maximise existing capacity within the Council’s cemeteries subject to a positive 
public consultation on the matter of grave re-use and using the available space 
within a used grave. 

 
11. CEMETERY MAPS AND SCANNING OF BURIAL RECORDS 
 
11.1 New digital interactive mapping can be linked to our current electronic burial 

records, allowing photos and documents to be uploaded. 
 
11.2 We current use Pear Technology’s Mapper software for the Town Councils 

GIS/CAD systems, all maps are supplied with all plots numbers from our current 
records and they will be linked to our third-party electronic burial records. 

 
11.3 The Town Council current holds most of its cemetery records dating back to 

1884 in registers and books. We do not currently have access to scanned 
copies of these records. Therefore, to ensure we protect these irreplaceable 
records. It is Officers recommendation to get circa 20 burial registers and all 
grant books scanned. 

 
12. CONCLUSIONS 
 
12.1 In accordance with paragraph 2.2, the Town Council is still classed as 

“problematic” in burial space terms. Therefore, in order for it to continue to be a 
burial authority, further capacity is required or if this cannot be found, alternative 
uses of the existing cemeteries will have to be implement. Should Members still 
be minded to support the project, Officers will now look at undertaking a public 
consultation to seek the view of the local residents for grave re-use and using 
the available space within a used grave for further consideration by this 
committee. 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



Document is Restricted

Page 65

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of the Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 s1 (2)



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 77

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 79

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 81

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 83

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 85

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 87

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 135

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN
	6 REPORT FROM JUDGES OF THE 2018 ANGLIA IN BLOOM COMPETITION
	Judges 2018 Anglia in Bloom Report

	7 REVIEW OF LEIGHTON LINSLADE IN BLOOM FUNDING
	Draft Constitution of The Friends of Leighton
	Draft The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom - Service Level Agreement 2019 - 2023

	8 ASTRAL PARK
	10 SIX MONTH BUDGET MONITORING REPORT
	Six month budget monitoring report -Earmarked reserves rescanned

	11 2019/2020 DRAFT BUDGET
	12 TOWN COUNCIL'S FIVE YEAR PLAN
	13 CEMETERIES
	15 PAGES PARK PAVILION
	Pages Park Pavilion, LU7 Proposed priced works 8253 v01 SUMMARY 1
	Pages Park Pavilion PROPOSED PLAN 8253.JB.02.03 revA 2
	Pages Park Pavilion EXISTING ELEVATION 8253.JB.03.01
	Pages Park Pavilion EXISTING PLAN 8253.JB.01.01 A
	Pages Park Pavilion PROPOSED ELEVATION 8253.JB.04.03 revA
	R&D Survey Report - Pages Park Pavillion, Leighton Buzzard
	Pages Park 2013 Condition Survey last


